
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Police Authority Board 

 
Date: FRIDAY, 5 JUNE 2020 

Time: 11.00 am 

Venue: VIRTUAL PUBLIC MEETING (MICROSOFT TEAMS) 

 
Members: Deputy James Thomson (Chairman) 

Douglas Barrow 
Nicholas Bensted-Smith 
Deputy Keith Bottomley 
Tijs Broeke 
Simon Duckworth 
Alderman Emma Edhem 
Alderman Alison Gowman 
Sheriff Christopher Hayward 
Alderman Ian Luder 
Andrew Lentin (External Member) 
Deborah Oliver (External Member) 
Deputy Henry Pollard 

 
Enquiries: Alistair MacLellan 

alistair.maclellan@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

 
Members of the public can view the public side of the meeting online: 

https://youtu.be/Jfxu8uGq10E 
 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 
 

Future Meeting Dates (all at 11.00am) 
22 June 2020 
13 July 2020 

3 September 2020 
22 October 2020 

26 November 2020 

Public Document Pack

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fyoutu.be%2FJfxu8uGq10E&data=01%7C01%7C%7Cd2008c9281b4443c58df08d7fd75ab3e%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C1&sdata=o8Wt79T6J2gWRs6IHzlFkAIKerm6pTSK5Na93XS54J4%3D&reserved=0


 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES 
 
2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 
3. MINUTES 
 To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 14 May 

2020.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 1 - 8) 

 
4. OUTSTANDING REFERENCES 
 Joint report of the Town Clerk and Commissioner.  

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 9 - 14) 

 
5. CHAIRMAN'S PUBLIC UPDATE 
 

For Information 
6. COMMISSIONER'S PUBLIC UPDATES 
 
 a) Operation TAMAR   
 For Information 
 
 
 b) National Lead Force   
 For Information 
 
 
 c) Force Finances   
 For Information 
 
 
7. REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 2019/20 
 Report of the Commissioner. 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 15 - 32) 

 
8. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE BOARD 
 
9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
  
 
 



 

3 
 

10. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 MOTION - That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act. 
 

 For Decision 
Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda 

 
11. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 14 May 2020.  

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 33 - 36) 

 
12. NON-PUBLIC OUTSTANDING REFERENCES 
 Joint Report of the Town Clerk and Commissioner.  

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 37 - 38) 

 
13. CHAIRMAN'S NON-PUBLIC UPDATE 
 

For Information 
14. NON-PUBLIC COMMISSIONER'S UPDATES 
 
 a) Operation TAMAR   
 For Information 
 
 
 b) National Lead Force   
 For Information 
 
 
 c) Force Finances   
 For Information 
 
 
 d) Shared Services and Transform   
 For Information 
 
 
15. ECONOMIC CRIME DIRECTORATE NORTH-WEST HUB - SPONSORED 

SERVICES AGREEMENT (SSA) 
 Report of the Commissioner. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 39 - 44) 

  
 
 



 

 

16. QUARTER 4 - NATIONAL LEAD FORCE PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 Report of the Commissioner.  

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 45 - 74) 

 
17. CIPFA - CITY OF LONDON POLICE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT CAPABILITY 

REVIEW 
 Report of the Commissioner.  

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 75 - 108) 

 
18. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

BOARD 
 
19. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 

WHICH THE BOARD AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE PUBLIC 
ARE EXCLUDED 

 



POLICE AUTHORITY BOARD 
Thursday, 14 May 2020  

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Police Authority Board  

Microsoft Teams Virtual Meeting on Thursday, 14 May 2020 at 11.00 am 
 

Present 
 
Members: 
Douglas Barrow (Chairman) 
Deputy James Thomson (Deputy Chairman) 
Nicholas Bensted-Smith 
Deputy Keith Bottomley 
Tijs Broeke 
Alderman Emma Edhem 
Alderman Alison Gowman 
Sheriff Christopher Hayward 
Alderman Ian Luder 
Andrew Lentin (External Member) 
Deborah Oliver (External Member) 
Deputy Henry Pollard 

 
City of London Police Authority: 
Alex Orme - Head of Police Authority Team 

Oliver Bolton - Deputy Head of Police Authority Team 

Rachael Waldron - Compliance Lead 

Antoinette Duhaney - Town Clerk’s Department 

Chloe Rew - Town Clerk’s Department  

Leanne Murphy  - Town Clerk’s Department  

Sean Green - Chamberlain’s Department  

Danielle Maalouf - Chamberlain’s Department  

 
City of London Police: 
Ian Dyson 
Alistair Sutherland 
Dai Evans  

- Commissioner 
- Assistant Commissioner 
- T/Commander (Operations & Security) 

Hayley Williams - City of London Police 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies for absence were received from Simon Duckworth. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
No declarations were made. 
 

3. PUBLIC MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 27.04.20 are 
approved as an accurate record subject to the following correction: 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
Page 3 – On the fifth line of second paragraph after PPE insert (especially face 
coverings)  
 
Additionally, the Acting Chairman requested the following: 
 
Page 5-That 2 Outstanding References (ORs) from the Performance and 
Resource Management Committee be added to the ORs for Police Authority 
Board. These related to the Force/ Authority developing a Reserves Policy; and 
Force use of POCA funds in line with Home Office guidelines. (P&RM ORs 
02/2020/P and 03/2020/P. 
 
Page 6- The Force provide a full HMICFRS update to the 22nd June Police 
Authority Board. It was confirmed that this was due in any case. (OR 
16/2020/P) 
 

4. VOTE OF THANKS TO OUTGOING CHAIRMAN  
In the absence of formal elections to appoint a Chairman and Deputy 
Chairman, the Board was advised that appointees had been carried forward 
from 2019/20.  However, in the light of Doug Barrow’s decision to stand down 
as Chairman of the Board, Deputy James Thomson would become Acting 
Chairman and Doug Barrow Acting Deputy Chairman until formal elections 
could take place. 
 
The Acting Chairman commended the immediate past Chairman, Doug Barrow 
for his contribution to the work of the Board and these sentiments were echoed 
by Board Members.  A vote of thanks and appreciation for the immediate past 
Chairman’s contribution to the work of the Board during his tenure as Chairman 
was moved, and it was,  
 
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:  

That it was the sincere wish of the Members of the Police Authority Board to 
place on record their deep appreciation and thanks to 
 

MR DOUGLAS BARROW 
 
As Chairman of the Police Authority Board over the last four years, Mr Barrow 
has been a diligent, committed, well-respected and considerate Chairman. He 
has been a committed advocate for policing in the City, building effective 
relationships with the Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabularies, Fire and 
Rescue Services, the Home Office, the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 
and our Community Safety Partners. He has ensured that the City of London 
Police continues to function in an efficient and effective manner. 
 
The continuing threats to the City from terrorism and fraud-related crime remain 
constant and consequently, are key priorities for the force.  These are just 
some of the areas which Mr Barrow effectively presided over during his time as 
Chairman. Together with the Police and our Safer City Partners, he has faced 
these challenges and worked diligently to overcome them and has ensured that 
the City is safe and secure for the years ahead.  

Page 2



 
Mr Barrow presided over meetings in a courteous manner, with leadership and 
vision, demonstrating a ready grasp of policing issues.  Key achievements 
during his term as Chairman include the implementation of a governance 
review to further improve the scrutiny and challenge of the Force.  He also 
maintained oversight of the relocation of the Economic Crime Directorate and 
Force Senior Management Team to Guildhall Yard East. 
 
The Safer City Partnership was also refreshed under the leadership of Mr 
Barrow, fostering broader engagement from our City partners which informed 
the development of a Strategic Needs Led Assessment for the City.  Under Mr 
Barrow’s leadership, the Partnership successfully secured a guaranteed ten per 
cent of the Proceeds of Crime Act each year from the Force for crime 
prevention projects and initiatives and to protect the City’s vulnerable groups. 
 
During Mr Barrow’s tenure, the profile of the Force in the City has been raised 
through greater engagement of the Court of Common Council Members.  Mr 
Barrow helped successfully to secure additional funding for the force to recruit 
an additional sixty-seven posts to strengthen the security of the City and has 
worked closely with the Commissioner as the force’s Transform Programme 
has been developed. 
 
These achievements have strengthened and supported the Force’s vision to be 
an organisation that is “Proud to deliver an exceptional policing service.” 
 
AND SO in taking leave of Mr Barrow as their Chairman, Members of this 
Board wish to thank him for his service and the excellent leadership with which 
he has directed the Board’s demanding agendas to decision and to wish him 
every possible success in the future. 
 

5. APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES AND SUB COMMITTEES AND OTHER 
GOVERNANCE MATTERS  
The Board was advised that the Policy and Resources Committee and the 

Court of Common Council had agreed that, notwithstanding the provisions of 

Standing Order 21, in view of the current COVID-19 Pandemic, the annual 

appointment of committees and sub committees of the City of London 

Corporation (including the appointment of Chairman and Deputy Chairman) be 

deferred to April 2021.  Consequently, the Membership of all Committees, Sub 

Committees and their Terms of Reference had been carried forward from 

2019/20 subject to the following: 

Appointment of co-opted Member - Performance and Resource 
Management  
The Board to note that the Audit and Risk Management Committee has 
nominated of Dan Worsley to serve on the Performance and Resource 
Management Sub (Police) Committee for the year ensuing. 
 
Appointment of representative to Association of Police and Crime 
Commissioners (APCC) – The Board to consider whether to reappoint Simon 
Duckworth for a further one-year term. 

Page 3



 
Performance & Resource Management Sub Committee - The Board to note 
that Douglas Barrow will be Chairman of the Performance & Resource 
Management Committee. 
 
Economic Crime Sub Committee – The Board to note that Deputy James 
Thomson will be Chairman of the Economic Crime Committee. 
 
Safer City Partnership – The Board to note that Doug Barrow will continue as 
Chairman of the Safer City Partnership. 
 
Professional Standards & Integrity Sub Committee – The Board to note that 
Alderman Alison Gowman will continue as Chairman of the Professional 
Standards & Integrity Committee. 
 
RESOLVED,  
 

• That the above appointments be supported. 
 

• That Simon Duckworth be appointed as the Board’s representative on the 
APCC for a further one-year term and consideration be given to whether 
going forward, it is more appropriate for the Chairman/Deputy Chairman 
to serve on the APCC. 

 
6. PUBLIC OUTSTANDING REFERENCES  

In considering the update, the following was highlighted: 
 

• 30/2019/P, Cyber Griffin Evaluation – It was reported that this work was 
currently being evaluated by the City of London. The Town Clerk undertook 
to inform the Board of a revised timeline in due course. 

 

• 37/2019/P, Exercise Yard – The Board was advised that this work had been 
approved by Capital Buildings Committee with completion anticipated in 
June/July 2020.  An accelerated completion date was unlikely given the 
current challenges with appointing contractors. 

 

• 5/2020/P, Quarterly reporting – Tijs Broeke agreed to follow up on this and 
report back to the Board in due course. 

 

• 6/2020/P, Board awayday – It was reported that an informal working group 
would meet virtually on Monday 18th May and Deputy Keith Bottomley 
expressed his interest in joining this meeting. 

 
RESOLVED, that the report be noted. 
 

7. COMMISSIONER'S PUBLIC UPDATES  
 
1a. Update on Operation TAMAR  
 

Page 4



The Commissioner and Chief Officers provided an oral update and highlighted 
the following: 
 

• The CoLP were deeply engaged with enforcement while lockdown 
restrictions were easing focusing on engagement, educate and 
enforcement as a last resort.  The initial easing of lockdown had little 
impact on the City of London thus far. 
 

• There was some activity with City businesses as preparations were 
made for office space to be reconfigured. 

 

• Traffic levels remained relatively low and twenty Fixed Penalty Notices 
(FPNs) had been issued during the lockdown. This consisted of mainly 
of vehicle stops and 3 individuals had been issued with FPNs for failing 
to comply with repeated requests to cease filming a music video in the 
Barbican Estate. It was noted that the British Transport Police and TfL 
would be responsible for enforcement on the travel network. 

 

• Sickness levels during the COVID-19 pandemic remained low (2%) and 
the officer who was being treated in hospital for COVID-19 was making a 
steady recovery. 

 

• Reports of Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour were low and the 
Aldgate/Middlesex Street Area was being monitored in response to 
complaints. 

 

• Plans were being considered to make offices suitable for staff to return.  
Staff were understandably anxious and phased re-occupation would take 
place whilst taking full advantage of technology for remote working. 
 

• Throughout lockdown, uniformed policing level had been maintained but 
must reintegrate to workplace and take advantage of technology 
benefits. 
 

• There was increasing demand on PPE supply chains and a supply of 
face coverings had been secured to minimise transmission of COVID-19 
and steps were being taking to maintain an adequate supply of PPE. 
The Force has a good supply at the current time. 

 

• A report was to be considered by the Planning & Transportation 
Committee later that day regarding proposals to alter the City of London 
Streetscape to support the COVID-19 recovery and any actions agreed 
would have an impact on CoLP.  

 

• In respect of the Secure City Programme, Officers were optimistic that 
any changes would not diminish CCTV or ANPR as additional resources 
were available as a result of the Pan-London approach.  Officers would 
raise these concerns with TfL and GLA at a meeting the following day. 
 

Page 5



2a. Update on National Lead Force  
 

The Board was advised that  
 

• Losses of £3m had been reported most of which related to COVID-19 
related online fraud. This included computer software fraud, on-line retail 
and courier fraud. 

 

• Thirty-two social media presences were made to providing advice on 
protecting against fraud.  The CoLP had collaborated with other forces to 
shut down websites and email addresses where this was deemed 
appropriate. There had been 15 arrests in relation to COVID-19 Fraud 
activity. 
 

• It was noted that the Force had not needed to re-deploy Economic Crime 
officers to maintain response policing levels. 
 

3a. Update on Force Finances (New Finance Tracker)  
 
The Board was advised that subsequent to the previous update provided on 
27th April, there was nothing further to add. 
 

8. CHAIRMAN'S PUBLIC UPDATE  
The Acting Chairman reported that  
 

• Regular updates were being provided on a range of matters including 
COVID-19 related fraud, and APCC briefings.   

 

• Following the investigation of an alleged firearms incident in Mansell 
Street, Officers had found no evidence of a firearm being discharged and 
the incident was being pursued as an act of Criminal Damage. 
 

• A request was made to Officers to ensure that external and co-opted 
members were invited to Board meetings when matters of 
interest/relevance to external and co-opted members were being 
considered. 

 
9. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE BOARD  

There were no questions. 
 

10. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
There were no items of urgent business. 
 

11. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds 
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 
Item Nos.   Paragraph(s) in Schedule 12A 

Page 6



12 - 18   3 
 

12. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 27.04.20 be 
agreed as a correct record. 
 

13. NON-PUBLIC OUTSTANDING REFERENCES  
The Board considered the outstanding references. 
 

14. NON-PUBLIC COMMISSIONER'S UPDATES  
 
1a. Non-public Update on Operation TAMAR  
 
The Board considered the non-public update. 
 
2a. Non-Public Update on National Lead Force  
 
The Board considered the non-public update. 
 
3a. Non-Public Update on Force finances (New Finance Tracker)  
 
The Board considered the non-public new finance tracker. 
 

15. CHAIRMAN'S NON-PUBLIC UPDATE  
The Board considered the Chairman’s non-public update. 
 

16. CITY OF LONDON POLICE IT MODERNISATION ACCELERATION  
The Board considered a report on modernisation proposals for the CoLP IT 
infrastructure. 
 

17. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE BOARD  
There were no questions. 
 

18. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE BOARD AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST 
THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There were two items of urgent business. 

 
The meeting ended at 12.41 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
Contact Officer: Antoinette Duhaney / 
antoinette.duhaney@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



CITY OF LONDON POLICE AUTHORITY BOARD – PUBLIC REFERENCES 
 

15/2018/P Item 4 

Outstanding 

References 

Barbican CCTV will form part of Secure 

City Programme when CCTV is 

reviewed in the round. 

Commissioner of 

Police  

 DUE SIX MONTHS POST-

CROSSRAIL OPENING 

30/2019/P October 2019 

Item 8 

Quarterly 

Community 

Engagement 

Update 

 

 

 

 

Cyber Griffin-Evaluation report on 

outcomes to be submitted to the 

January Cyber Griffin Oversight Board 

and then to February PAB 

Chief Exec/ 

Commissioner 

 UPDATE- provided by Police 
Authority Team 
The work is currently awaiting 
approval to carry over the budget 
for the work into the new financial 
year (no appropriate bids were 
received when the tender went out 
in Feb, which then pushed them 
against the year-end). However, 
suitable candidates to conduct the 
work have since been identified and 
pending approval to carryover the 
budget (decision on carryovers due 
on 3rd June by Chamberlain and 
Chair & Deputy of RASC), I&G 
colleagues believe they can get up 
and running within a couple of 
weeks. 
 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



CITY OF LONDON POLICE AUTHORITY BOARD – PUBLIC REFERENCES 
 

31/2019/P October 2019 

Item 8 

Quarterly 

Community 

Engagement 

Update 

Lead Member for Road Safety 

acknowledged figures sent but asked 

for further fuller breakdown and 

analysis including repeat locations. and 

to be circulated to Police Authority 

Board  

 

SIA Member to be consulted ahead of 

report submission to Board 

 

Commissioner of 

Police 

 COMPLETE- 
Statistics have now been provided 
to the Lead Member for Roads 
Policing and the Lead Member is 
meeting with representatives from 
the Force and the CoL to discuss 
the draft report in the next week. 
 

32/2019/P October 2019 

Item 8 

Quarterly 

Community 

Engagement 

Update 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Annual update on Road Danger 

Reduction Plan to be submitted to 

include elements on cycling education 

and enforcement in the City of London.  

Commissioner / 

Director of the 

Built 

Environment  

 IN PROGRESS – PROPOSED 
FOR JULY 2020 
Road Policing Unit Inspector has 
sent information regarding cycling 
education and enforcement to 
Department of Built Environment 
(DBE) for inclusion in the joint 
report. CoLP Senior Management 
from UPD have liaised with DBE 
Senior Management in order to try 
and get this progressed for 
submission to the Board in July 
2020. This is currently on track. 

34/2019/P November 2019 

Item 7 – Special 

Interest Area 

Update  

Review of new Community Scrutiny 

body to be submitted to the Board in 

May 2020. Consideration to be given to 

where new Community Scrutiny Group 

(CSG) falls within Special Interest Area 

Commissioner of 

Police 

 Now due September 2020 
As the IASG has only been able to 
meet once since its inception, a 
review of this arrangement would 
not currently be meaningful. 
Another meeting of the group is due 

P
age 10



CITY OF LONDON POLICE AUTHORITY BOARD – PUBLIC REFERENCES 
 

Scheme and what appropriate Member 

engagement with CSG might look like. 

in June. The Police Authority Team 
has therefore agreed to defer this 
report to September. 

37/2019/P November 2019 

Item 9 – Annual 

Update on 

Custody of 

Vulnerable 

Persons  

 

Police Authority Board to be updated 

on progress on options for provision of 

exercise yard at Bishopsgate Police 

Station. 

Commissioner of 

Police 

 IN PROGRESS 
A costed plan report was submitted 
to the informal Capital Buildings 
Committee on the 18 March and 
was approved: 
 
1.Works mobilisation May / June 
2.Works completion July / August  

 
This is currently on track but will be 
subject to contractors working 
arrangements to manage COVID-
19 requirements. 

41/2019/P November 2019 

Item 14 – AOB – 

Ethical Economic 

Partnerships 

Policy  

The Force should consult at the 
earliest opportunity with the Chairman 
and Deputy Chairman of the Police 
Authority Board, and the Chief 
Executive of the Police Authority, about 
the legal form, financial value and 
reputational risk of any potential 
external economic partnership prior to 
this being formalised by the Force, 
including where appropriate taking any 
decision to the Police Authority Board; 
The Force should publish a register of 
organisations that the Force is in 

Commissioner of 

Police  

 IN PROGRESS- It was agreed at 

the May Board that the Force would 

submit a list of current partnerships 

to the September Board.  It was 

noted that no new partnerships 

were in development at present due 

to COVID -19 response. 

P
age 11



CITY OF LONDON POLICE AUTHORITY BOARD – PUBLIC REFERENCES 
 

partnership with, including high level 
details; and the Force should provide 
an annual report to the Police Authority 
Board on its external partnerships. 
Ethical Partnership reporting to be 
submitted to PSI Committee and Police 
Authority Board.  

3/2020/P January 2020 

Item 9 – Annual 

Review of Terms 

of Reference 

Proposal on term limits to be submitted 
to Policy and Resources Committee 
and Court of Common Council, and to 
City Governance Review.  
 
 
 

Town Clerk   IN PROGRESS – LIKELY DUE 
APRIL 2021 
This was due for submission to 
March 2020 Policy and Resources 
Committee. However, due to 
COVID- 19 all terms of reference 
and memberships continue 
unchanged until further notice. 

5/2020/P January 2020 

Items 10 and 11 – 

Quarterly 

Reporting for 

Community 

engagement and 

E&I  

Force to liaise with Authority and SIA 
Members to determine report format 
for six-month period.  

Commissioner of 

Police 

 IN PROGRESS –  
This is being followed up with the 
Police Authority team as part of the 
SIA. Report due to 13thJuly Board. 

6/2020/P February 2020 

Item 4 – 

Outstanding 

References 

Board Away Day to be convened in 
May 2020.  

Town Clerk  COMPLETE 
This took place on the 18th May 
2020. 

P
age 12



CITY OF LONDON POLICE AUTHORITY BOARD – PUBLIC REFERENCES 
 

16/2020/P 14 May 2020 – 

Item 3 – Public 

Minutes  

Acting Chairman requested a full 
HMICFRS Recommendations update 
be submitted to the 22nd June Board 
meeting. 

Commissioner of 

Police 

 IN PROGRESS 
This is on track to be submitted to 
22nd June Board meeting. 

 
Acting Chairman requested the below 2 be added to PAB ORs 
 

P&RM 

Committee 

2/2020/P 

P&RM 

Committee 

7 February 2020 

Item 5 – Budget 

Monitoring Q3 

Force Reserves Policy to be 

developed.  

Commissioner 

of Police/ 

Treasurer 

  

IN PROGRESS 

The Chief Operating and Finance 

Officer will be submitting a report to 

the 13thJuly Board on this matter. 

P&RM 

Committee 

3/2020/P 

P&RM 

Committee 

7 February 2020 

Item 5 – Budget 

Monitoring Q3 

Confirmation on Force compliance 

with POCA regulations to be provided.  

Commissioner 

of Police  

COMPLETE 

This has been covered in the 

Revenue and Capital Outturn report 

19-20 on the agenda. 

 

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 14



 

Committee:  

Police Authority Board 

Date:    

5th June 2020 

Subject:  

Revenue and Capital Outturn Report 2019/20 

Public 

Report of: 
Commissioner of Police 
Pol 37-20 

For Information 

Report author:  
Cecilie Booth, Chief Operating and Chief Financial 
Officer  

 

Summary 
 

The Chief Officer Cash Limited budget at the start of the year was £72.7m.  By the 
end of the financial year the budget increased to £80.8m due to the transfer of the 
COL contact centre, additional pension grant and a number of internal recharges.  
The full breakdown of the budget is shown in Table 1 below.  Furthermore, the 
budget has been fully adjusted to reflect the 67 growth bid posts, additional Pension 
Grant from HO, Apprenticeship Levy and Supplementary Revenue Projects. 
   
This report outlines the outturn position for the 2019/20 financial year. The Force is 
reporting a breakeven position after reserve movements and carry forwards. The 
Q3 report presented a projected outturn position of a £0.6m overspend, with full use 
of the £2.5m POCA reserve and full utilisation of Action Fraud budgets.  The 
financial position has improved significantly since Q3, with an outturn position of 
£0.2m underspend before reserve movements, in line with the Police Authority 
Board briefing paper of 27th April, indicating an overspend of £1.4m before POCA 
drawdown. The remaining £0.2m underspend has been transferred to a new 
earmarked reserve with expected use in 2020/21, as outlined in this report.  The 
outturn position has therefore improved by £3.3m since Q3. 
 
The main budget pressure has been the unfunded increase in Police Officer pension 
contributions in the region of £2.5m based on full establishment, and recruitment of 
the agreed 67 growth posts.  Expenditure for the 67 growth posts in 2019/20 totals 
£0.9m, funded by the POCA reserve.  
 
Other financial pressures include overtime, a larger pay award for Officers than 
expected, legal costs in relation to the London Bridge inquest and additional costs 
through the policing of significant public order events.  These pressures have been 
off-set by savings in other areas, mainly in the pay budget as a result of vacancies 
held. 
 
Savings of £6.3m were built into the budget; £4.7m in pay and £1.6m in non-pay. 
These savings have been achieved, however, maintaining acceptable service levels 
whilst holding the required vacancies has been a real challenge 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



 

Ongoing work relating to workforce management, maximising income and managing 
non-essential expenditure have brought the position back within budget at the end 
of the financial year.      
 

Recommendation 

Members are asked to note the report. 

 
 
 

Main Report 
 

1 Chief Officer Cash Limit Budget  
 

1.1 The Chief Officer Cash limited budget at the start of the year was £72.7m. By the 

end of the financial year the budget has been increased to £80.8m, as explained 

above. 
 

1.2 . This is funded as follows.  

Table 1 

Funding Type Amount (£000) % 

Core Grant (inc NICC)                     57,100  70.7% 

Business Rates Premium                     13,000  16.1% 

Precept grant                       2,700  3.3% 

CoL Contact Centre  
                          

680  
0.8% 

Pension Grant  
                          

842  
1.0% 

Apprenticeship Levy 
                            

83  
0.1% 

SRP                       6,344  7.9% 

Total Funding                     80,749  100% 

 

1.3 The outturn position is summarised below: 

Provisional Outturn 19/20 £’000 

2019/20 Budget 80,749 

Actual spend 80,611 

Variance before reserve movements (138) 

 
 
 
 
   

Reserve Movements:   

Page 16



 

Contribution to Action Fraud reserve 1,035 

Contribution to POCA reserve due to additional receipts in year 405 

Drawdown from POCA reserve to fund 67 growth posts (900) 

Drawdown from POCA to fund residual spend (598) 

Net Outturn (196) 

Carry forward to Earmarked Reserve (See 1.6) 196 

2019/20 Outturn 0 

 

1.4 The Force is reporting a breakeven position after reserve movements and carry 
forwards. This is an improvement on the forecast position reported at Q3, which 
projected an overspend of £0.6m.    
 

1.5 The table above sets out the reserve movements and Table 13 towards the end of 
the report shows the impact on reserve balances. The reason for the movements 
is as follows: 

 

• £1m contribution to the Action Fraud reserve to be set aside for the System 
supplier dispute. It also relates to some service credits we have taken but may 
not be entitled to and to unpaid invoices, and to.   

• £0.4m contribution to POCA reserve relates to additional POCA receipts 
received in year which need to utilised in accordance with POCA 
requirements 

• £0.9m drawdown from POCA reserve to fund the in-year cost of on-boarding 
posts as part of agreed 67 growth.  

• £0.6m drawdown from POCA reserve to fund additional spend requirements 
in year  
 

1.6 The position before carry forwards is an underspend of £0.2m. The underspend 
will be carried forward as part of an Earmarked Reserve. There are two elements 
to this: 
 

• Crime Academy surplus (£0.172m) – surplus generated in 2019/20 to be 
carried forward as part of mitigation of reduced income expectations due to 
Covid 19.  

• NLF (£0.024m) – underspend due to delays in delivering Body Worn Video 
which will now be delivered early 2020/21. 

 

1.7 The Force has managed a number of financial pressures in-year including:  
 

• Additional costs due to 9.7% increase in police officer pensions  

• Overtime overspend of £0.8m (please see overtime section below) 

• The confirmed 2.5% pay award for Police Officer’s against a budget of 2% 

• Legal costs in respect of the London Bridge inquest 

• Non-pay pressures on business rates and subscription charges  
 

1.8 The Q3 report presented a projected outturn position of a £0.6m overspend, with 
full use of the £2.5m POCA reserve and full utilisation of Action Fraud budgets.  

Page 17



 

The financial position has improved significantly since Q3 with an outturn position 
of £0.2m underspend before reserve movements, therefore an improvement of 
£3.3m. 
 

1.9 The key areas of improvement are set out below: 
 

• Q3 forecast assumed full spend of Action Fraud budgets with balances to be 
transferred to a ring-fenced reserve 

• Agency – an improvement of £0.6m since Q3 due to agency staff rationalisation 

• An additional £0.2m received from HO to cover costs related to the Extinction 
Rebellion protests. 

• An additional £0.1m income from Corporate Plan and International Training 

• An improvement of £0.6m through a review of outstanding commitments 

• Additional capital salaries recharged of £0.1m 

• Funded Units recharge review resulting in an increase of external funding in the 
region of £0.2m 
 

Table 2 

  
19/20 Final Budget Outturn Variance 

£m £m £m 

Pay       

Officers – net 50.6 52.7 2.0 

Staff – net 25.0 22.9 (2.1) 

Overtime 2.0 2.9 0.8 

Agency 2.4 1.9 (0.5) 

Indirect employee costs 2.2 1.6 (0.6) 

Pensions Contrib. 20.4 17.1 (3.3) 

Total Pay 102.7 99.0 (3.7) 

Non-Pay 47.2 48.1 0.9 

Total Expenditure 149.9 147.1 (2.8) 

        

Income       

Specific Grant (52.2) (49.2) 3.0 

Partnership (12.5) (12.6) (0.1) 

Fees & Charges (4.4) (4.8) (0.4) 

Total Income (69.1) (66.6) 2.5 

        

Use of reserves       

Transfers to reserve 0.0 2.1 2.1 

Transfer from reserve 0.0 (1.8) (1.8) 

Total use of reserves 0.0 0.3 0.3 

        

Funding (80.8) (80.8) 0.0 

        

Underlying Deficit (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) 

        

 
 

2 Savings Target 

 

Page 18



 

2.1 Budget mitigations of £6.3m were required in-year to achieve a balanced budget, 
comprising £4.7m in pay and £1.6m in non-pay. The savings plan was monitored 
closely through internal governance and fortnightly monitoring meetings with the 
Police Authority. Pay savings have been delivered through workforce and vacancy 
management in core funded posts. The level of required monthly pay savings was 
£0.390m (81 posts, officers / staff). Non-pay savings of £1.6m have been identified 
and delivered as set out in Table 3 below.  

 
Table 3 
 

Savings Tracker 
Target Outturn Variance 

Risk  
£'000 £'000 £'000 

Vacancy factor 3,700 3,744 44 G 

Transform pay 
savings - holding 
branch 

1,000 1,000 0 G 

Total pay 4,700 4,744 44   

Corporate Plan 
income 

300 399 99 G 

Facilities 
Management 

500 500 0 G 

Seized assets disposal 300 300 0 G 

Agency staff 500 500 0 G 

Total non-pay 1,600 1,699 99   

Total 6,300 6,443 143   

 

3 Directorate Revenue Position  
 

3.1 The table below sets out the Directorate position after reserve movements.   
 

Table 4 

 

Directorate  2019/20 
Budget  

 Outturn  Variance 

   £'m   £'m   £'m  

BSD 34.9 32.9 (2.0) 

Crime 10.5 10.3 (0.2) 

ECD 7.9 7.9 (0.0) 

I&I 11.9 13.7 1.7 

UPD 15.4 15.9 0.5 

Grand Total 80.7 80.7 (0.0) 
 

 

 

Directorate Variances (See Table 4) 

Page 19



 

3.2 Business Support Directorate (BSD) - £2.0m underspend after reserve movements   
 
The Directorate is slightly underspent due to recognition of drawdown of the full 
POCA reserve. The Directorate holds the unfunded additional police officer 
pension pressure and the pay budget mitigation of £3.0m. The position includes 
spend of £0.250m relating to the London Bridge inquest, and includes receipt of 
the full year pension deficit grant. 
 
The Directorate is holding core funded net vacant posts of 3.4 FTE. 
 

3.3 Crime - £0.2m underspend after reserve movements 
 
Over the course of the financial year the outturn position improved due to additional 
grant income. There has been an increase in agency costs as highly skilled posts 
have remained vacant. Recruitment to these roles has been delayed due to vetting 
and Covid-19. Forensic services spent approximately £0.030m more than forecast 
on equipment in relation to PPE for the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
The Directorate is holding core funded net vacant posts of 16.1 FTE. 
 

3.4 Economic Crime Directorate (ECD) - breakeven 
 
The Directorate is 81% externally funded. The primary risk is the position on Action 
Fraud, which is subject to continued monitoring.   The appropriate recharge 
between core funded and externally funded units is also subject to on-going review.  
 
The Directorate broke even after carry forwards and transfers to reserves of £1.2m 
(detailed in sections 1.4 and 1.5). This is largely unchanged from the previous 
monitoring report.  The main transfer to reserve relates to Action Fraud and the 
ongoing dispute with the supplier.  The underspend is set aside for this purpose.   
 

3.5 Intelligence and Information (I&I) - £1.7m overspend after reserve movements 
 
The overspend position within I&I is due to a number of factors. A significant area 
is in non-pay budgets with un-budgeted computer services and support 
expenditure within the Command Hub, Information and Management services and 
CAB, annual subscriptions and professional fees for services such as Regulation 
of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) and cost of licences/maintenance for 
information security.  All these unavoidable costs relate to core services, and the 
budget has been corrected in 2020-21 
 
There are also pressures on overtime, mainly within the Command Hub. Overtime 
activity is driven by the 24 hour nature of work within the Command Hub and to 
the work undertaken by the Surveillance team. Various measures have been 
introduced to address and manage overtime, e.g. a review of work and shift 
patterns and recruitment to build team resilience at supervisory levels.  These 
measures improved the position significantly, and year on year there has been a 
40% reduction in overtime. 
  

Page 20



 

Finally, there were a number of unfunded posts in the various services with The 
Niche Secure City programme which has been addressed in the 2020-21 financial 
year.  
 

The Directorate is holding core funded net vacant posts of 1.7 FTE. 
 

3.6 Uniformed Policing Directorate (UPD) - £0.5m overspend after reserve movements 
 
The overspend is primarily due to overtime, particularly in Firearms, Support 
Group and Response teams. Measures have been introduced to manage this, and 
the position has improved significantly year on year by 48%.  This remains a 
significant area of risk with uncertainty around future potential public order events 
such as Extinction and Animal Rebellion, as well as emerging demand around 
COVID19. Other staff related pressure relate to unfunded posts within Response, 
the Firearms Training wing and Custody teams, which meant pay costs were in 
excess of the budget. A bonus scheme was introduced in the Firearms team to 
aid recruitment and retention of highly specialist officers, thereby maintaining 
improved stability within the service.  

 
Budget pressures have been significantly mitigated by unbudgeted income from 
various sources, including a Home Office grant for the London Bridget terrorist 
incident in November and late funding provided in respect of the Animal and 
Extinction rebellion. There was also income from various sponsorship agreements 
e.g. Bloomberg, DCLG for Community Policing and funding from the Mayor’s office 
for Op Gondola (Roads policing violent crime). 

  
The Directorate is holding core funded net vacant posts of 21.7 FTE. 

 
4 Workforce 

 

4.1 The pay budget constitutes 72% of our expenditure and the stringent management 
of vacant posts has been essential to manage the financial position throughout 
2019/20. The establishment at the end of 2019/20, including 67 growth posts, was 
1,358 FTE, comprising 840 Officers and 518 staff. The actual workforce paid in 
March was 1,184 FTE comprising 742 Officers and 442 Staff.  
 

4.2 The tables below set out the actual position by month for the year. The position 
reflects the holding of vacant posts required to deliver budget mitigations.  

 

Table 6  

FTE Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 
 
Jan 

 
Feb 

 
Mar 

Officers 
               
735  

               
746  

               
748  

                  
758  

                  
755  

                  
761  

                  
757  

                  
758  

                  
747  

 
748 

 
751 

 
742 

Staff 
               
435  

               
436  

               
434  

                  
447  

                  
445  

                  
448  

                  
438  

                  
439  

                  
440  

 
443 

 
442 

 
442 

Total 
           
1,170  

           
1,182  

           
1,182  

              
1,206  

              
1,199  

              
1,209  

              
1,195  

              
1,197  

              
1,187  

 
1,191 

 
1,193 

 
1,184 

          

   

Page 21



 

Headcount Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 
 
Jan 

 
Feb 

 
Mar 

Officers 
               
744  

               
763  

               
756  

                  
767  

                  
763  

                  
769  

                  
765  

                  
766  

                  
755  

 
755 

 
759 

 
750 

Staff 
               
447  

               
449 

               
445  

                  
460  

                  
457  

                  
461  

                  
451  

                  
452  

                  
454  

 
457 

 
456 

 
456 

Total 
           
1,191  

           
1,212  

           
1,201  

              
1,227  

              
1,220  

              
1,230  

              
1,216  

              
1,218  

              
1,209  

 
1,212 

 
1,215 

 
1,206 

 

4.3 The Prime Minister pledged to recruit 20,000 extra police officers in England and 
Wales over the next three years, and a recruitment drive started in September 
2019.  44 new officers were allocated for CoLP in 2020/21 via a ring fenced grant 
in the 2020/21 police settlement in January. Due to COVID19, the ring fence has 
been relaxed in the first two quarters of 2020/21. 
 

4.4 Recruitment towards the 67 growth bid is under way. At the end of March 2020, 38 
posts have been filled with 29 expected to be arrive early in new financial year. The 
actual cost in 2019/20 was £0.9m in respect of these posts, which has been funded 
by the POCA reserve.   

 

5 Income 

 

5.1 Table 7 below sets out the grant funding position for the Force totalling £65.89m 
 

Table 7   

Name of Grant Funding Provider 
2019/20 
Budget Outturn Variance 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Police Pensions Grant Home Office (20,400) (17,122) 3,278 

National Cyber Security 
Programme  Home Office (6,645) (6,166) 479 

Counter Terrorism Policy Grant Home Office (6,554) (6,741) (187) 

Action Fraud Managed Service Home Office (5,500) (5,248) 252 

Insurance Fraud Enforcement 
Team 

Association of British 
Insurers (4,003) (3,794) 209 

Action Fraud National Fraud 
Intelligence Bureau Home Office (4,000) (4,297) (297) 

Dedicated Cheque & Plastic Card 
Unit (DCPCU) 

UK Payments 
Administration Ltd (2,520) (2,494) 26 

National Lead Force Home Office (2,500) (2,250) 250 

Police - Pension Unfunded Grant Home Office (2,500) (32) 2,468 

Economic Crime Capability 
Development Home Office (2,200) (3,188) (988) 

International Property Crime 
Investigation Unit (PIPCU) Intellectual Property Office (1,916) (1,919) (3) 

Police Transport Grant Transport for London (1,847) (1,897) (50) 

National to Local Fraud & Cyber 
Data Sharing Home Office (1,761) (585) 1,176 

Page 22



 

Lloyds Sponsorship Lloyds Bank (643) (431) 212 

Cyber Griffin Corporation (450) (442) 8 

Late Night Levy Corporation (310) (302) 8 

International Training and 
Development Team Home Office (300) (302) (2) 

International Training and 
Development Team Various 0 (6) (6) 

London Safety Camera Partnership Transport for London (264) (245) 19 

Economic Crime Victim Care Unit 
Mayors Office for Policing 
& Crime (210) (208) 2 

Overseas Anti-Corruption Unit 
Department for 
International Development (171) (200) (29) 

NPCC Cybercrime Programme Home Office (100) (103) (3) 

Tower Bridge Corporation (92) (92) (0) 

Regional Organised Crime Unit 
Coordinator  Home Office (90) (84) 6 

Other - Volunteer Police Cadets Cadet Contributions (10) (5) 5 

19/20 National Uplift Grant Cadet Contributions 0 (202) (202) 

Extinction and Animal Rebellion Home Office 0 (240) (240) 

Common Police Services 
Contributions 

College of Policing and 
HMICFRS 0 (155) (155) 

Free Rail Travel London Mayors Office 0 (444) (444) 

OP Armonica Home Office 0 (85) (85) 

Other - Forensic Services Miscellaneous Income 0 (19) (19) 

Other - Misc 
Mayors Office for Policing 
& Crime 0 (12) (12) 

Other - Misc Royal Gibraltar Police 0 (2) (2) 

Other - Misc Hampshire County Council 0 (1) (1) 

Other - Misc Other 0 0 0 

Other - Misc Miscellaneous Income 0 69 69 

Other - Support Group London Mayors Office 0 (100) (100) 

Other - Taser Project College of Policing 0 (31) (31) 

Other - Womens Network Other 0 (2) (2) 

PTF & NCSP Funding Grant Miscellaneous Income 0 (258) (258) 

Secondment costs Home Office 0 (59) (59) 

Secondment costs 
Mayor's Office for Policing 
and Crime 0 17 17 

Grand Total   (64,986) (59,677) 5,309 
 

5.2 Work continues to ensure there is a full cost recovery approach to all funded units, 
this is incorporated into the Medium Term Financial Plan. Contractual 
arrangements are reviewed as and when existing contracts expire. 
 
 
 
 
 

6 Capital 
 

Page 23



 

6.1 The position for current live capital schemes is shown in Table 8 below.  This part 

of the report indicates budget drawdown and spend to date on each City of London 

Police projects within the City of London Corporation’s Capital Programme 

 
6.2 The first monitoring report in 2020/21 will include the forecast spend for each 

quarter on all capital projects and in future reports responses from project manager 

/ project board will be incorporated into the report where timelines are not being 

adhered to. 

Table 8 

Core Project Latest 
Approved 

Budget 

Spend to date 
(excluding 

commitments) 

Commitments 
(orders 
placed) 

Available 
Spend 

carried 
forward 
to 20/21 

Comments 

CoLP Managed Projects           

Ring of Steel Compliance 2,446,429 2,218,746 59,743 167,940   

ESMCP - Direct Network Service Provider 
(DNSP) 

98,200 69,444 0 28,756   

ESMCP - Emergency Services Network 
Readiness (ESN-R) 

521,717 521,717 0 0   

Police Airwave Refresh 29,700 25,195 0 4,505 Part of the 
£1.25m 

airwaves 
refresh 

project. This 
is for project 

management 
costs to 

date. 

ESMCP Programme Management 1,201,457 839,374 0 362,083   

ICT Support to CCCI 3,360,494 3,333,407 0 27,087   

Secure City Programme Management 195,000 190,626 0 4,374   

CoLP I.T. Modernisation Desktop & Office 
365 

3,800,000 1,186,646 1,451,573 1,161,781   

CoLP I.T. Modernisation Security Zone 849,815 477,164 245,495 127,156   

CoLP I.T. Modernisation 
Sharepoint/Intranet 

245,000 0 0 245,000   

Police Telephony Upgrade 492,309 309,106 103,481 79,722   

IT Service 2020 Contract - Police 941,500 42,898 85,988 812,614   

Local Area Network (LAN) Refresh - Police 1,371,612 1,369,381 0 2,231   

Body Worn Video 147,350 142,636 0 4,714   

Digital Interview Recording Solution 253,952 0 0 253,952   

Economic Crime Capability Development 74,349 74,348 0 1   

Police Vehicles - ULEZ 391,000 0 389,880 1,120 Part of the 
£1.8 million - 

£737k 
approved 

under 
urgency but 

Page 24



 

only £391k 
applied as 

budget 

Police Vehicles 2019-20 108,842 12,934 79,588 16,320 A mix of 
capital 

receipts and 
revenue 

contributions 
enabled this 

budget 

Secure City Programme Management 257,503 157,423 0 100,080   

HR Time Management & e-Expenses 425,496 259,411 100,982 65,103   

  17,211,725 11,230,456 2,516,730 3,464,539   

CoLP Managed Police Accommodation 
Strategy Projects           

GYE Enabler Relocation 141,000 56,525 0 84,475   

GYE Furniture 399,698 396,495 0 3,203   

HI Tech Crime Unit 36,000 36,000 0 0   

PH6D Snow Hill Decommissioning & 
Clearance 

20,000 13,457 0 6,543   

Ph2 Wood Street Building Clearance 20,000 0 0 20,000   

Project Commune 180,700 149,071 0 31,629   

SIGO 121,375 36,405 0 84,970   

Forensic Services Relocation of Fingerprint 
LAB 

331,745 128,330 0 203,415   

Phase 3 Decant Logistics 579,007 495,054 67,174 16,779   

Phase 3J 21 New Street Furniture 335,858 307,378 0 28,480   

Interim Control Room I.T. 405,295 150,844 0 254,451   

Interim Force Control Room 1,362,873 1,250,696 16,600 95,577   

Phase 3a Bishopsgate Furniture 204,952 112,539 9,241 83,172   

GYE I.T. Costs 599,000 481,445 0 117,555   

Digitisation of Documents 58,547 49,168 0 9,379   

Interim Force Control Room ANPR 242,740 235,517 0 7,223   

Police Support 3,291,037 2,637,945 16,224 636,868   

I.T. Decant 365,800 335,517 1,488 28,795   

I.T. Decommissioning 79,000 33,693 7,228 38,079   

Joint Contact & Control Room Decant 64,950 48,284 0 16,666   

Phase 3G Mounted Unit 15,000 10,164 3,295 1,541   

I.T. Decant 1,563,144 1,058,982 67,098 437,064   

Joint Contact & Control Room 228,850 228,099 0 751   

Custody Exercise Yard 71,000 0 0 71,000 Approved in 
March 20 as 
part of  PAS 

  10,717,571 8,251,608 188,348 2,277,615   

  27,929,296 19,482,064 2,705,078 5,742,154   

 

 

7 Transactional finance 

Page 25



 

Accounts Payable  

7.1 Table 9 shows performance relating to payment of invoices within 30 or 10 days. 
Performance of 95% which is consistent with previous quarters, but below the 
corporate target of 97%. Measures are in place to improve overall performance 
including clearing backlogs and rolling out self-service.   

      

 Table 9 

Month 
Total 

Invoices 
Compliant 

Invoices 
% 

Jan-19 687 619 90% 

Feb-19 587 566 96% 

Mar-19 713 686 96% 

Apr-19 545 526 97% 

May-19 653 618 95% 

Jun-19 528 510 97% 

Jul-19 598 566 95% 

Aug-19 599 568 95% 

Sep-19 498 476 96% 

Oct-19 595 563 95% 

Nov-19 630 605 96% 

Dec-19 572 543 95% 

Total to Date 7,205 6,846 95% 

 

Accounts Receivable 

7.2 Table 10 below shows total Debtors as at the 31st March 2020. Outstanding debt 
has decreased by £0.466m to £0.959m at the end of Q4. The majority of 
outstanding debt is in the less than 1 month old, with 61 invoices totalling £0.806m. 
Collection activity continues to be a priority to ensure timely collection and prevent 
debts aging. There are 9 invoices over 1 year old totalling £0.024m, all of which is 
expected to be collected. There has been no debt write off this financial year.     

 
Table 10 
 

 Q3 Q4 Change from Q3  to Q4 

Age Count Value £ Count Value £ Count Value £ 

Less than 1 Month 19 1,111,843 61 806,437 42 (305,406)  

1 - 2 Months 14 60,390 4 16,083 (10) (44,307)  

2 - 3 Months 14 65,141 6 64,087 (8) (1,054)  

3 - 12 Months 8 163,490 24 48,796 16 (114,694)  

Over 1 year 10 24,649 9 23,770 (1) (879)  

 Total  65 1,425,513 104 959,173 39 (466,340)  

 

Page 26



 

Table 11 

 Q4 2019 

Accounts receivable activity in Q4 No 
Amount   

£ 

Number of Invoices Paid (87) (1,618,028)  

New Invoices Raised 61 806,437 

Credit Notes Issued (2) (14,888) 

Debts Written Off 0 0 

 

Table 12 

Movement in aged debt over 3 months 

 

Overtime 

7.3 The overtime budget is £2.0m, split £1.6m core funded and £0.4m funded units. 
This includes overtime in respect of bank holidays and tasking.  
 

7.4 Actual spend as at the 31st March 2020 is £2.8m, covering both officers and staff, 
which is £0.8m over budget.  This is mainly due to the number of vacancies held 
and has been off-set against corresponding pay savings and external grants, as 
set out in this report. 
 

7.5 Expenditure in 2019/20 was £0.4m lower than that in 2018/19 due to a combination 
of new controls and clear communication to managers and is despite the additional 
overtime requirement due to policing the Extinction Rebellion protests.  

 
7.6 The chart below shows the trend on overtime hours worked across the year 

compared to previous years. The trend indicates a reduction in overtime compared 
to previous years and that controls have been effective.   
 

Mar-19 May-19 Jul-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20

Value £253,423 £123,848 £382,067 £197,859 £160,752 £193,531 £188,139 £101,391 £137,358 £72,566

No of Invoices 29 25 28 22 19 26 18 27 27 33

£0
£50,000

£100,000
£150,000
£200,000
£250,000
£300,000
£350,000
£400,000
£450,000

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Value No of Invoices

Page 27



 

 

 

7.7 The main reasons for claiming overtime have been: 
 

• Covering for vacant posts (backfilling / Business as Usual) 

• Extinction / Animal Rebellion protests  

• Pan London Brexit protests 

• TFG including Bank of England armed escorts (which is substantially recovered 
through the contract) 
 

7.8 There was minimal overtime spend in relation to Covid 19 in 2019/20, however, 
this is more prevalent in 2020/21.  

       
7.9 Overtime expenditure in the region of £0.2m relates to policing the Extinction / 

Animal Rebellion protests. We have recently been notified by the Home Office that 
our bid for special grant funding was approved. 
  

7.10 The largest spending Directorate is UPD which constitutes 45% of overtime. 
Going forward it is expected that the need for backfilling and BAU will reduce as 
vacancies are filled, however, it is difficult to predict requirements relating to future 
known and unknown policing requirements.  
 

7.11 The chart below shows cumulative overtime spend against the last two years. 
This shows that spend this year has been on a lower trajectory than previous years 
due to the controls that were put in place.  
 
 

0.00

2,000.00

4,000.00

6,000.00

8,000.00

10,000.00

12,000.00

14,000.00

16,000.00

Apr  May  Jun  Jul  Aug  Sep  Oct  Nov  Dec  Jan  Feb  Mar

OT Hours Worked

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Page 28



 

 
 
 

8 Use of Reserves  

 
8.1 The Police General Reserve was fully utilised in 2018/19 and drawdowns were 

made from the Transformation Reserve and the Action Fraud reserve to match 
expenditure. Table 13 below summaries 2019/20 reserve movements and closing 
reserve balances: 
 

Table 13 

  
Opening Balance 

£'m 
Use of Reserve 

£'m 

Transfer to 
Reserve 

£'m 

Closing 
Balance 

£'m 

Earmarked Reserve 0.0 0.0 (0.2) (0.2) 

POCA (2.5) 1.5 (0.4) (1.4) 

Action Fraud (1.7) 0.3 (1.3) (2.7) 

Transformational Funding 
(0.1) 0.0 0.0 (0.1) 

Total (4.3) 1.8 (1.9) (4.4) 

 

9 POCA Reserve 

 

9.1 Clear Home Office guidance is in place around the use of POCA (Proceeds of 

 Crime Act) funds, i.e. to reduce crime.  The Home Office will monitor the use of 

-£500,000

£0

£500,000

£1,000,000

£1,500,000

£2,000,000

£2,500,000

£3,000,000

£3,500,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3 year Spending rate Analysis Mar 
2020

17/18 18/19 19/20 Budget Linear (19/20)

Page 29



 

incentive monies to assess issues of propriety and regularity. The Home Office 

will ask all asset recovery agencies (including all police forces and local 

authorities) at the end of the financial year to account for their use of incentive 

payments. Each agency will be required to submit one consolidated return as 

follows: 

 

• Details of how funds have been used  

• For each initiative/project how much has been allocated 

• How has this contributed to improving asset recovery, performance, or 
tackling crime   

• What are the particular asset recovery outcomes. 
 

10 Risk Management 

 

10.1 Table 14 below identifies the key risks and mitigating controls contained within 
 this report: (quantum included where possible) 
 
Table 14 

 

Risk Risk Mitigation 

Major incidents Early engagement with the Home Office to 

ensure opportunities for cost recovery are 

maximised.  £0.2m was recovered for extinction / 

animal rebellion and £0.2m for the national 

police officer uplift. 

Crime Performance / 

Safety issues 

All such issues will be reported to Members 

Vacancy factor It was challenging to maintain acceptable service 

levels with a vacancy factor of 81 during 

2019/20.  All recruitment is approved by the 

Strategic Workforce Panel.  The Holding Branch 

posts have been deleted from the 2020/21 

establishment 

Budget mitigations and 

additional pension pressure 

Fortnightly strategy meetings are held with the 

Commissioner, Town Clerk and Police Authority 

Policy and Finance, reviewing and challenging 

budget and savings assumptions.   

Overtime budget  Enhanced controls have been introduced to 

manage the overtime budget.  The £2m overtime 

budget was overspent by £0.8m, mainly due to 

backfilling vacant posts.  A reduction in overtime 

is expected in 2020/21 as posts are filled. 

Page 30



 

Deferred Weekly Leave 

(DWL) 

As at 31st March 2020, accrued DWL is valued 

at £1.3m for officers and £0.07m for staff.  

Further DWL may build-up further. There are 

currently no financial implication, however, the 

position is under continuous review. 

Use of agency staff  Reliance on agency staff has been greatly 

reduced, generating savings of £0.5m 

Further cost pressures for 

Action Fraud 

Under review and close scrutiny as outlined 

within the report 

Capital Programme 

progress and potential 

slippage 

The Capital Programme is monitored throughout 

the year with capital recharges undertaken in a 

timely manner.  

Events policing Finance Business Partners will continue to work 

closely with services to ensure chargeable 

events policing is captured in a timely manner 

and recharged accordingly. 

Vehicle fleet management The Strategic Fleet Management Group chaired 

by the Assistant Commissioner monitors 

financial risk around the fleet replacement 

programme. A £1.8m loan has been granted by 

the Corporation for this purpose, and £0.3m has 

been released to date.  Discussions are taking 

place to release the remainder as orders need to 

be raised.   

 

 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



Document is Restricted

Page 33

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 37

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 39

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 45

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 47

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 75

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 77

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Outstanding References
	7 Revenue and Capital Outturn 2019/20
	11 Non-Public Minutes
	12 Non-Public Outstanding References
	15 Economic Crime Directorate North-West Hub - Sponsored Services Agreement (SSA)
	16 Quarter 4 - National Lead Force Performance Report
	pol_34-20_NLF_ECD Performance Q4 2019 20 - ECB - Draftv3

	17 CIPFA - City of London Police Financial Management Capability Review
	Pol_35-20_CIPFA_CoLP FMCR_V3.1


